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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE WESTERN DISTRICT OF TENNESSEE 

WESTERN DIVISION 
 
ACLU OF TENNESSEE, Inc. 
 

) 
)

 

 Intervening Plaintiff, )
v. ) No. 2:17-cv-02120-jpm-DKV
 )
THE CITY OF MEMPHIS, 
  
 Defendant. 
 

) 
) 
) 

 

SEALED REPLY IN SUPPORT OF MOTION FOR IMMEDIATE MODIFICATION OF 
THE KENDRICK CONSENT DECREE 

The Defendant, the City of Memphis (“the City”), submits this Reply in Support of its 

Motion for Immediate Modification (ECF No. 227) of Section I of the September 14, 1978 

Order, Judgment and Decree entered in the case of Kendrick, et al v. Chandler, et al, No. 2:76-

cv-00449 (W.D. Tenn. 1978) (the “Consent Decree”) (See Consent Decree, ECF 9-1).  

I. The Court’s Interpretation of Section I differs from that of the ACLU-TN.  

The Intervening Plaintiff ACLU of Tennessee, Inc. (“ACLU-TN”) states in its brief that 

modification of Section I is not warranted because “[t]he obvious purpose of § I was to close any 

loophole whereby the City might farm out the gathering of political intelligence or other conduct 

prohibited by the Consent Decree.”  (ECF No. 231, PageID 7966).  The Monitor and the Court, 

however, interpret Section I much differently than the ACLU-TN. 

Section I of the Consent Decree states: 

Restrictions on Joint Operations 

The defendants and the City of Memphis shall not encourage, cooperate with, 
delegate, employ or contract with, or act at the behest of, any local, state, federal 
or private agency, or any person, to plan or conduct any investigation, activity or 
conduct prohibited by this Decree. 
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Consent Decree, § I (ECF No. 151, PageID 6284). 

In a series of communications in August 2019, the Monitor interpreted Section I as 

prohibiting the City from receiving any intelligence from another law enforcement agency, 

entity, or person unless the City is somehow able to vet that the information was gathered in a 

way that does not violate the Consent Decree. 1 The Monitor explained that Section I does more 

than just prevent the City from “farming out” the gathering of political intelligence or other 

conduct prohibited by the Consent Decree — it prevents the City from receiving any information 

without first vetting that the intelligence was gathered in violation of the Decree. 

Second,  the City may not  “benefit  from  the  Intel” acquired by the FBI, the 
Secret Service, or any other law enforcement agencies unless the City first 
verifies that the information was not acquired in any way that the consent 
decree prohibits the City from using. Section I of the Kendrick Consent Decree 
forbids the City to “encourage, cooperate with, delegate, employ or contract 
with, or act at the behest of, any local, state, federal or private agency, or any 
person, to plan or conduct any . . . activity . . . prohibited by th[e] decree.” I read 
this restriction to place the onus on the City to verify that any information 
it receives from governmental law enforcement agencies, non-law 
enforcement agencies, public and private entities, and individuals satisfies 
the same standards as information lawfully collected by the City itself. 

(August 21, 2019 Letter from Monitor to the City, attached as Exhibit A, at pp. 1-3) (emphasis 
added). 

In a second communication, the Monitor explained as follows: 

The only way to ensure that the City does not offend the consent decree in 
working with private individuals or organizations is to require the same 
verification process for information received from private individuals and 
organizations as I understand the consent decree to impose for receiving 
information from the FBI, the Secret Service, or any other law enforcement 
agencies. (See generally August 21, 2019, Coordination Opinion.) The City’s 
ability to receive information from private citizens, either through Crime 
Stoppers or directly, is thus subject to verification that the information 

                                                 
1 The Monitor granted the City permission to continue participating in the Multi-Agency Gang 
Unit and CrimeStoppers pending the Court’s ruling on the City’s Motion for Immediate 
Modification. 
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satisfies the same standards as information lawfully collected by the City 
itself. 

(August 26, 2019 Letter, attached as Exhibit B, pp. 10-11)  (emphasis added). 

The Court then acknowledged the Monitor’s interpretation of Section I during an in 

camera conference held on August 27, 2019.   

The Monitor did look at this issue and is -- is correct that we, under the Kendricks 
[sic] decree, did not receive information that was gathered without, essentially, a 
reasonable suspicion or probable cause-type determination. There are both 
different standards but some type of determination. In other words, broad 
gathering of information simply to gather information is problematic. 

(ECF No. 232, PageID 7978). 

The Court further explained that the City could not receive or act on information obtained 

by a federal agency in a manner that violates the Decree.  

Now, the interesting question is: Can you act on it? Can you act on it, not can the 
Secret Service act on it? They can. That’s not precluded. Can the FBI act on it? 
They can. That’s not precluded. But can the City of Memphis act on that? And the 
answer typically would be no because it’s simply information that you would not 
receive.  

(ECF No. 232, PageID 7981). 

Moreover, the Court apparently acknowledged, in interaction with counsel for the City, 

that even if the intelligence gathered by the federal agency was related to a lawful criminal 

investigation, the City’s receipt of that information would violate the Consent Decree because 

the federal criminal investigation was not approved by the Director under Section G of the 

Consent Decree. 

MR. GLOVER: -- so I’m not complaining about it. Is that -- it would be, as it 
stands now, without some relief from the Court or nuanced reading of it that 
you’re giving us here that we would be in technical violation for receiving the 
information from the FBI or the Secret Service if we couldn’t assure ourselves, 
through vetting, that it had not been obtained in a manner that would be consistent 
for us -- 

THE COURT: And the problem is -- 
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MR. GLOVER: -- to be able to do it. 

THE COURT: -- that they can’t assure us that they’ve had a impartial -- it’s 
impartial -- individual -- 

MR. STANTON: Mm-hmm. 

THE COURT: -- who has reviewed and made a determination. And that is a 
problem. 

MR. GLOVER: With the four elements -- 

THE COURT: That is a problem. 

(ECF No. 232, PageID 7983). 

Thus, the ACLU-TN’s interpretation of Section I conflicts with that of the Monitor and 

this Honorable Court.  The City agrees with the ACLU-TN that the “obvious purpose” of Section 

I was to prevent the City from “farm[ing] out the gathering of political intelligence or other 

conduct prohibited by the Decree,” (ECF No. 231, PageID 7966), but it is nonetheless 

constrained by the Court’s and the Monitor’s current interpretation of Section I.  In view of 

ACLU-TN’s clarified position on its view of the purpose of Section I, the City respectfully 

requests that the Court reconsider its interpretation of Section I; and if the Court’s interpretation 

of Section I remains unchanged in light of the ACLU-TN’s interpretation of it, the City 

respectfully requests that Section I be modified as outlined infra.  The ACLU-TN asserts that the 

City has presented no evidence “that there has been a change in circumstances that makes 

compliance with Section I substantially more onerous than what was originally contemplated.”  

(ECF 231, PageId 7967).  The Monitor’s and the Court’s interpretation of Section I, however, in 

light of a national law enforcement environment that encourages the sharing of intelligence, 

constitute changed circumstances and warrant modification of Section I.   

Accordingly, the City proposes that Section I be modified as follows: 

Restrictions on Joint Operations Restrictions on the Use of Third Parties As 
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Surrogates 

The defendants and the City of Memphis shall not encourage, cooperate with, 
delegate, or employ or contract with, or act at the behest of, any local, state, 
federal or private agency, or any person, to plan or conduct any investigation, 
activity or conduct prohibited by this Decree. The City may receive information 
from local, state, federal, and private agencies, or from any person, as long as the 
City of Memphis does not initiate the conduct giving rise to the gathering of the 
intelligence. 

II. The Kendrick Complaint does not even allege a subjective chilling effect. 

ACLU-TN argues that there has been no change in law since the time of the Kendrick 

litigation.  A closer look at the Kendrick Complaint is warranted.  The Kendrick Complaint was 

filed on September 14, 1976 in response to the City’s operation of its Domestic Intelligence Unit. 

The plaintiffs alleged:  

…the Memphis Police Department in or about 1965 established a Domestic 
Intelligence Unit whose purpose was to investigate and maintain files upon 
citizens engaged in non-criminal, constitutionally protected activities which were 
thought to be “subversive” and/or advocating unpopular or controversial political 
issues. 

Kendrick Complaint, ¶ 6, attached as Exhibit C. 

Upon information and belief the defendants gathered, maintained and held in their 
possession, custody and control, files, records and reports that contained unverified 
information and gossip which related exclusively to the exercise of lawful and 
peaceful activities. 

Id. at ¶ 7. 

Now, following Gordon v. Warren Consol. Bd. of Educ., the activities of the Memphis 

Police Department alleged to have violated the First Amendment would not even give the 

Kendrick plaintiffs standing to bring their original claim.  706 F.2d 778, 780 (6th Cir. 1983), 

quoting Laird v. Tatum, 408 U.S. 1 (1972) (“Allegations of subjective chill are not an adequate 

substitute for a claim of specific present objective harm or a threat of specific future harm”); see 
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also Am. Civil Liberties Union v. Nat’l Sec. Agency, 493 F.3d 644, 661 (6th Cir. 2007). The 

Kendrick plaintiffs failed to allege any chilling of their speech, much less an objective chilling.   

In short, if the Kendrick plaintiffs brought the same First Amendment claims that they 

brought in 1976 in 1984 (post-Gordon), they would not have standing to do so because they did 

not even allege that their speech was subjectively chilled, much less objectively.  In short, 

because the Kendrick plaintiffs would not be able to bring their claim, there would be no Consent 

Decree.  

III. Conclusion 

In view of the Parties’ apparent understanding, if not agreement, on the purpose and 

intent of Section I, the City respectfully requests that the Court modify Section I accordingly. 

Respectfully Submitted, 
 
BAKER, DONELSON, BEARMAN, 
CALDWELL & BERKOWITZ, P.C. 
 
s/ Mark Glover 
Buckner Wellford (#9687) 
R. Mark Glover (#6807) 
Jennie Vee Silk (#35319) 
Mary Wu Tullis (#31339) 
165 Madison Avenue, Suite 2000  
Memphis, Tennessee 38103  
Telephone (901) 526-2000 
E-mail: bwellford@bakerdonelson.com 

mglover@bakerdonelson.com 
jsilk@bakerdonelson.com 
mtullis@bakerdonelson.com 

 
Attorneys for Defendant, The City of 
Memphis 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I hereby certify that on the 31st day of October 2019, a copy of the attached pleading was 
filed electronically.  Notice of this filing will be served by operation of the Court’s electronic 
filing system to all counsel of record.   

 
Thomas H. Castelli  
ACLU Tennessee, Inc.  
P.O. Box 120160  
Nashville, TN 37212  
tcastelli@aclu-tn.org  
 
Mandy Strickland Floyd  
Bone McAllester Norton PLLC  
511 Union Street, Suite 1600  
Nashville, Tennessee 37219  
mfloyd@bonelaw.com  

 

Attorneys for Intervening Plaintiff 

 

s/ Mark Glover 
Mark Glover 
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Confidential Attorney Work Product 

M E M O R A N D U M 

To: The City of Memphis 

From: Independent Monitor Edward L. Stanton III 

Date: August 21, 2019 

THE INDEPENDENT MONITOR’S RESPONSES TO QUESTIONS REGARDING POTENTIAL 
COORDINATION BETWEEN THE MEMPHIS POLICE DEPARTMENT, OTHER LAW 

ENFORCEMENT AGENCIES, AND NON-LAW ENFORCEMENT ENTITIES AND 
INDIVIDUALS 

This memorandum addresses three questions concerning the City of Memphis (City) and 
the Memphis Police Department (MPD)’s ability to share with and receive information from 
other law enforcement agencies.  

(1) On September 9-11, 2019, the City will host the PSP Symposium on 
Violent Crime. U.S. Attorney General William Barr and executives from 
various federal agencies—DOJ, FBI, DEA, ATF, and USMS—plan to 
attend. On July 16, 2019, the City asked whether it may “coordinate with 
[the FBI and Secret Service] and benefit from Intel they may have to share 
in planning for th[e] symposium.” (See Email from B. McMullen to E. 
Stanton, et al., attached as Exhibit A.)

ANSWER:  This question raises two issues: First, to the extent that “coordinat[ing]” with the 
FBI or the Secret Service includes sharing personal information, the City may not coordinate 
with those agencies, or any others, in planning for the symposium. Section H of the Kendrick
Consent Decree1 prohibits the City from “maintain[ing] personal information about any person 
unless it is collected in the course of a lawful investigation of criminal conduct.” § H(1). It also 
prohibits the City from sharing “personal information . . . collected in the course of a lawful 
investigation of criminal conduct” unless the recipient is “another governmental law enforcement 
agency then engaged in a lawful investigation of criminal conduct.” § H(2). I read this language 
to impose two applicable restrictions: (1) entirely against the sharing of personal information 
collected in any way other than via lawful criminal investigation (as such information may not be 
maintained in the first instance); and (2) against the sharing of personal information collected via 
lawful criminal investigation unless such sharing is with another governmental law enforcement 
agency and that agency already is engaged in a lawful criminal investigation. 

1 The decree is ECF No. 3 in Case No. 2:76-cv-000449 before this Court. 
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The second restriction is straightforward, but the first warrants elaboration.  As an initial 
matter, § C(1) of the consent decree broadly prohibits the City from “engag[ing] in political 
intelligence.” Section B(4) defines “political intelligence” to include both “the gathering [and] . . 
. dissemination of information . . . relating to any person’s . . . exercise of First Amendment 
rights.” Together, the two provisions prevent the City from sharing information relating to any 
person’s exercise of First Amendment rights.  

Section H(2), cited above, is broader than Section B(4). It speaks of “personal 
information” without qualification, whereas § B(4) refers to the narrower category of 
“information . . . relating to any person’s . . . exercise of First Amendment rights.” But § H(2) 
restricts the permitted recipients of the first category of information to other “governmental law 
enforcement agenc[ies] then engaged in a lawful investigation of criminal conduct” when that 
information is acquired “in the course of a lawful investigation of criminal conduct.” If personal 
information is collected in some way other than via lawful criminal investigation, then § H(2)’s 
prohibition does not reach it. And if personal information does not relate to the exercise of a 
person’s First Amendment rights, then §§ B(4) and C(1)’s prohibition does not reach it either.  

Thus, §§ B(4), C(1), and H(2), which prohibit outright or limit the sharing of two 
categories of information, implicitly allow the City freely to share a third category: (1) personal 
information, (2) not collected in the course of a lawful criminal investigation, that (3) does not 
relate to any person’s exercise of First Amendment rights.  

But § H(1) eliminates this third category. Like § H(2), § H(1) refers broadly to “personal 
information” without qualification. And it prohibits the City from “maintain[ing] personal 
information about any person unless it is collected in the course of a lawful investigation of 
criminal conduct and is relevant to such investigation” (emphasis added). If personal information 
does not satisfy both criteria, then § H(1) states that it “shall be destroyed.” As a result, if the 
City were to identify information that fell within this third category, then it could not share that 
information because § H(1) would not allow the City to keep it in the first place.  

The ultimate consequence of these four sections, B(4), C(1), H(1), and H(2), is that the 
City may collect personal information—related or unrelated to the exercise of First Amendment 
rights—only in the course of a lawful criminal investigation, and may share that information 
only with a governmental law enforcement agency that already is involved in a criminal 
investigation.  

Second, the City may not “benefit from the Intel” acquired by the FBI, the Secret 
Service, or any other law enforcement agencies unless the City first verifies that the information 
was not acquired in any way that the consent decree prohibits the City from using. Section I of 
the Kendrick Consent Decree forbids the City to “encourage, cooperate with, delegate, employ or 
contract with, or act at the behest of, any local, state, federal or private agency, or any person, to 
plan or conduct any . . . activity . . . prohibited by th[e] decree.” I read this restriction to place the 
onus on the City to verify that any information it receives from governmental law enforcement 
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agencies, non-law enforcement agencies, public and private entities, and individuals satisfies the 
same standards as information lawfully collected by the City itself.  

(2)  The City previously has “expressed concern that the [Kendrick] Consent 
Decree might prohibit the City from receiving intelligence collected by 
other law enforcement agencies, e.g. Shelby County Sherriff’s 
Department, TBI, or FBI, that would otherwise be prohibited by the 
Consent Decree if obtained by the MPD.” (See June 14, 2019, Letter from 
M. Glover to E. Stanton, attached as Exhibit B, at 2.) “[O]ther law 
enforcement agencies,” the City explained, “are not bound by the Consent 
Decree [and] might obtain criminal intelligence through methods for 
which the MPD is prohibited from using under the Consent Decree.” 
(Ibid.) “The City wants to make sure that its receipt of such information 
from other law enforcement agencies does not violate the Consent 
Decree.” (Ibid.)

ANSWER:  The City’s receipt of intelligence collected by the Shelby County Sherriff’s 
Department, the TBI, the FBI, or other law enforcement agencies would violate the consent 
decree unless the City first verified that the information was not acquired in any way that the 
consent decree prohibits, as explained in the second section of my response to the first question 
above. In responding to this inquiry on a conference call on June 14, 2019, I stated that the City’s 
receipt of such intelligence would not violate the consent decree. Upon further review of the 
consent decree and the court’s orders in this litigation, I continue to believe that this answer is 
correct—but only so long as all intelligence properly is verified before the City receives it. If 
intelligence collected by governmental law enforcement agencies is not verified before the City 
receives it, then the City’s receipt of that intelligence would violate the consent decree. 
Moreover, if the City receives criminal intelligence from a governmental law enforcement 
agency for the purpose of conducting or supervising the MPD’s own investigation of criminal 
conduct, then the City’s receipt of that information also may be subject to the authorization and 
reporting requirements of § G of the consent decree.2

2 Section G of the Kendrick Consent Decree states: 

1.       Any police officer conducting or supervising a lawful investigation of 
criminal conduct which investigation may result in the collection of 
information about the exercise of First Amendment rights, or interfere in 
any way with the exercise of such First Amendment rights, must 
immediately bring such investigation to the attention of the Memphis 
Director of Police for review and authorization. 

2.       The Director of Police shall review the factual basis for the investigation 
and the investigative techniques to be employed. The Director of Police 
shall issue a written authorization for an investigation for a period not to 
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Please either (1) confirm that the City has not received intelligence collected by 
governmental law enforcement agencies without first verifying that information as provided 
above or (2) identify all unverified information that the City has received from governmental law 
enforcement agencies from June 14, 2019, to the date of this correspondence.  

(3) The City also has asked whether it may “share intelligence about a 
possible First Amendment Event that might end up on or near, for 
example, the campus of St. Jude or FedEx Headquarters.” (Ex. B at 2-3.) 

ANSWER: The sharing of personal information with non-law enforcement entities was a 
specific subject of the court’s attention when it held last October that the City had violated the 
consent decree. (See ECF No. 151, PageID # 6268-69.) In a section entitled, “The City Violated 
the Consent Decree by Disseminating Information Related to First Amendment Rights to 
Outsiders,” the court observed that the City’s Office of Homeland Security had “shared personal 
information [collected in the course of a criminal investigation] with certain outside individuals, 
including Autozone’s Head of Security, upon request and supervisor approval.” (Ibid.) In an 
earlier order in August 2018, the court explained that the MPD had shared joint intelligence 
briefings (JIBs) with “regional law enforcement officials and certain members of the Memphis 
community . . . employees of the U.S. Department of Justice . . . [and] Shelby County Schools, 

exceed ninety (90) days only if the Director of Police makes written 
findings that: 

a.  The investigation does not violate the provisions of this decree; 
and

b.  The expected collection of information about, or interference with, 
First Amendment rights is unavoidably necessary for the proper 
conduct of the investigation; and 

c.  Every reasonable precaution has been employed to minimize the 
collection of information about, or interference with, First 
Amendment rights; and 

d.  The investigation employs the least intrusive techniques necessary 
to obtain the information. 

3.  The Director of Police may authorize an extension of such investigation 
for an additional period specified by the Director of Police not to exceed 
90 days. The Director of Police shall authorize each such an extension 
only if the Director of Police re-evaluates the factual basis for the 
investigation and investigative techniques to be employed, and makes 
current written findings as required in paragraph 2, above. 
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FedEx, AutoZone, and St. Jude.” (ECF No. 120, PageID # 4865 (emphasis added).) The court 
ultimately concluded that the City had “violated Section C(1) of the Consent Decree”3 by sharing 
JIBs in this way. (Id. at PageID 4880, 4881.) It also identified § H(2), which applies to personal 
information collected in the course of a criminal investigation and is referenced above in my 
response to the City’s first question, as an additional limitation on sharing “information . . . 
relating to any person’s beliefs, opinions, associations or other exercise of First Amendment 
rights.” (Consent Decree § B(4); see ECF No. 151, PageID # 6268.)  

In responding to this inquiry on a conference call on June 14, 2019, Deputy Monitor Jim 
Letten stated that the Monitoring Team would need to analyze the inquiry under the consent 
decree “and suggested that the sharing of intelligence with a quasi-law enforcement agency, such 
as the security force at St. Jude, might be permissible under the Consent Decree.” (Ex. B at 3.)  
Upon review of the consent decree and later orders of the court in this litigation, it is my view 
that the City may not share political intelligence with non- or quasi-law enforcement agencies 
under any circumstances. As discussed in the first section of my response to the City’s first 
question above, I read §§ B(4), C(1), H(1), and H(2) of the consent decree to prohibit entirely the 
sharing of personal information collected in any way other than via lawful criminal investigation. 
We also read those sections to prohibit the sharing of personal information collected via lawful 
criminal investigation unless such sharing is with another law enforcement agency and that 
agency already is engaged in a lawful criminal investigation.  

I discern no public-safety or quasi-law enforcement exceptions to these prohibitions in 
either the plain language of the consent decree or the court’s orders in this litigation.  

49004810.v1 

3 Section C(1) of the Kendrick Consent Decree states: “The defendants and the City of 
Memphis shall not engage in political intelligence.” 
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Bethany Pollock

From: McMullen, Bruce <Bruce.McMullen1@memphistn.gov>
Sent: Tuesday, July 16, 2019 8:13 PM
To: Edward L. Stanton III
Cc: Jill Silk; Shanell Tyler; Will Perry; Glover, R. Mark; Tullis, Mary Wu; McMullen, Bruce; Sink, 

Jennifer
Subject: Re: Upcoming event.

Ed and Will, 

We are hosting the 2019 PSP Symposium on Violent Crime (September 9-11). Attorney General William Barr 
plans to attend as well as executives from the DOJ, FBI, DEA, ATF, and USMS.

Behind the scenes:

1. MPD will be responsible for event security; 5-6 officers each day inside the hotel and additional 
officers in the parking lot area.

2. MPD will need to provide executive protection on day one with AG Barr. Barr’s advance team will 
arrive the Friday before, on September 6, 2019.

3. MPD will need to coordinate an evening of entertainment and tour of selected MPD facility. Typically 
Tuesday night. Most Likely RTCC or CGIC and a night on Beale. For 350 attendees, this could mean 6 
buses.

We anticipate the need for a lot of coordination with the various agencies. Because of those involved, we expect 
the FBI and Secret Service to have a security force on the ground (or the air, I don’t know the extent of their 
technology). As you may expect, the expectation is that the agencies will share intelligence with MPD, and they 
expect the same. The intel they share with MPD may be obtained through methods that are prohibited by the 
Consent Decree. We would like to know if we have your approval to coordinate with these agencies and benefit 
from Intel they may have to share in planning for this symposium.

Sent from my iPhone 

On Jul 16, 2019, at 6:26 PM, Edward L. Stanton III <Edward.Stanton@butlersnow.com> wrote: 

Bruce —  

Let’s plan to discuss on our call Friday.  

ELS  

Sent from my iPhone 

On Jul 16, 2019, at 6:08 PM, McMullen, Bruce <Bruce.McMullen1@memphistn.gov> wrote: 

Ed and Will,
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Since we did not get a response with respect to the use of these search terms before the 
Nathan Bedford rally Saturday at Health Science park, we did not use them. Thankfully, 
the crowd was in line with what the permit suggested and there was no incident. 
Bruce McMullen 
Chief Legal Officer/City Attorney 
125 N. Main, Room 336 
Memphis, Tennessee 38103 
(901) 576-6614 – Office 
(901) 576-6531 – Fax 
bruce.mcmullen1@memphistn.gov

From: Silk, Jennie [mailto:jsilk@bakerdonelson.com]  
Sent: Friday, July 12, 2019 5:06 PM 
To: Edward L. Stanton III 
Cc: Shanell Tyler; Will William Perry (will.perry@butlersnow.com); Glover, R. Mark; 
Tullis, Mary Wu; McMullen, Bruce; McMullen, Bruce 
Subject: RE: Search terms for Nathan Bedford Forrest Birthday Rally and Confirming Use 
of Cameras at Rally Tonight 
Apologies, but we would like to add the following search terms to the original list below: 
Proud Boys 
Garvin McInnes 
unite the white  
Richard Spencer 
Jason Kessler 

Thank you, 
Jennie Vee Silk
Associate 
Baker, Donelson, Bearman, Caldwell & Berkowitz, PC 
2000 First Tennessee Building 
165 Madison Avenue 
Memphis, TN 38103 
Phone 901.577.8212 
Fax 901.577.0812 
JSilk@bakerdonelson.com
Baker, Donelson, Bearman, Caldwell & Berkowitz, PC represents clients across the U.S. 
and abroad from offices in Alabama, Florida, Georgia, Louisiana, Maryland, Mississippi, 
South Carolina, Tennessee, Texas, Virginia and Washington, D.C. 

From: Silk, Jennie  
Sent: Friday, July 12, 2019 4:41 PM 
To: Edward L. Stanton III 
Cc: 'Shanell Tyler'; Will William Perry (will.perry@butlersnow.com); Glover, R. 
Mark; Tullis, Mary Wu; 'McMullen, Bruce'; McMullen, Bruce 
Subject: Search terms for Nathan Bedford Forrest Birthday Rally and Confirming 
Use of Cameras at Rally Tonight 
Hi Ed, 
As we discussed on the call today, a rally is planned this weekend to celebrate 
Nathan Bedford Forrest's birthday, which is tomorrow July 13. You instructed 
the City to send you the search terms that MPD needs to search on social media 
in order to adequately prepare for this event. Here is the list: 

Confederate 
NBF 
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Forrest 
July 13 
July 13, 1821 
October 29 
October 29, 1877 
Statue 
December 20, 2017 
Sons of the Confederacy 
SOC 
Nathan Bedford Forrest 
Friends of Nathan Bedford Forrest 
Confederate901 
Confederate 901 
Taking Our Country Back 
Hiwayman Operation Home Front 
highwaymen 
Rollin Memphis 
KKK 
Ku Klux Klan 
Grand Wizard 
Health Sciences Park 
Lee Millar 
Calvary General 
Battle of Fort Pillow 
Battle of Shiloh 
Confederate Hero 
Battle of Fort Donelson  
Battle of Tupelo 
KKK 
Billy Roper  
Shield Wall 
Possible Counter protesters: 
CCC 
Coalition of Concerned Citizens 
New Black Panthers 
Antifa 
Please understand that we are very sensitive to the issue of the counter-
protester group names listed above, however, the City needs to prepare for the 
possibility of a large counter protest that could turn violent or become 
otherwise disruptive. As you know, whenever two ideologically opposite groups 
converge, things could erupt, similar to what happened in Charlottesville, 
Virginia.  
This note also confirms that today the Monitoring team gave the City the 
greenlight to operate its SkyCops, Body Worn Cameras, and Dash Cams 
pursuant to the current MPD policy for each of those cameras at the rally 
planned for tonight centered on the release of journalist Manuel Duran from ICE 
custody. 
Please let us know if you have any questions or concerns. Thank you and the 
team for taking the time to address these issues on the call today. 
Best, 
Jennie Vee Silk
Associate 
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Baker, Donelson, Bearman, Caldwell & Berkowitz, PC 
2000 First Tennessee Building 
165 Madison Avenue 
Memphis, TN 38103 
Phone 901.577.8212 
Fax 901.577.0812 
JSilk@bakerdonelson.com
Baker, Donelson, Bearman, Caldwell & Berkowitz, PC represents clients across 
the U.S. and abroad from offices in Alabama, Florida, Georgia, Louisiana, 
Maryland, Mississippi, South Carolina, Tennessee, Texas, Virginia and 
Washington, D.C. 

NOTICE: This electronic mail transmission with any attachments may constitute an 
attorney-client communication, protected health information (PHI) or other confidential 
information that is in fact confidential, legally protected from disclosure and/or 
protected by the attorney-client privilege. If you are the intended recipient, please 
maintain confidentiality and be aware that forwarding this e-mail to others may result in 
a waiver of these protections and privileges and regardless electronic communications 
may be at times illegally accessed and viewed. If you are not the intended recipient, this 
e-mail is not intended for transmission to you, nor to be read, reviewed, used, 
distributed or even received by you or any other unauthorized persons. If you have 
received this electronic mail transmission in error, please double delete it from your 
system immediately without copying, reading or disseminating it, and notify the sender 
by reply e-mail, so that our address record can be corrected. Thank you very much. 

CONFIDENTIALITY NOTE: This e-mail and any attachments may be confidential and protected by legal 
privilege. If you are not the intended recipient, be aware that any disclosure, copying, distribution or use 
of the e-mail or any attachment is prohibited. If you have received this e-mail in error, please notify us 
immediately by replying to the sender and deleting this copy and the reply from your system. Thank you 
for your cooperation.
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From: Silk, Jennie <jsilk@bakerdonelson.com>
Sent: Friday, July 12, 2019 4:41 PM
To: Edward L. Stanton III
Cc: Shanell Tyler; Will Perry; Glover, R. Mark; Tullis, Mary Wu; McMullen, Bruce; McMullen, Bruce
Subject: Search terms for Nathan Bedford Forrest Birthday Rally and Confirming Use of Cameras at Rally 

Tonight

Hi Ed, 
 
As we discussed on the call today, a rally is planned this weekend to celebrate Nathan Bedford Forrest's 
birthday, which is tomorrow July 13. You instructed the City to send you the search terms that MPD needs to 
search on social media in order to adequately prepare for this event. Here is the list: 

Confederate 
NBF 
Forrest 
July 13 
July 13, 1821 
October 29 
October 29, 1877 
Statue 
December 20, 2017 
Sons of the Confederacy 
SOC 
Nathan Bedford Forrest 
Friends of Nathan Bedford Forrest 
Confederate901 
Confederate 901 
Taking Our Country Back 
Hiwayman Operation Home Front 
highwaymen 
Rollin Memphis 
KKK 
Ku Klux Klan 
Grand Wizard 
Health Sciences Park 
Lee Millar 
Calvary General 
Battle of Fort Pillow 
Battle of Shiloh 
Confederate Hero 
Battle of Fort Donelson  
Battle of Tupelo 
KKK 
Billy Roper  
Shield Wall 
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Possible Counter protesters: 
CCC 
Coalition of Concerned Citizens 
New Black Panthers 
Antifa 

 
Please understand that we are very sensitive to the issue of the counter-protester group names listed above, 
however, the City needs to prepare for the possibility of a large counter protest that could turn violent or 
become otherwise disruptive. As you know, whenever two ideologically opposite groups converge, things could 
erupt, similar to what happened in Charlottesville, Virginia.  
 
This note also confirms that today the Monitoring team gave the City the greenlight to operate its SkyCops, 
Body Worn Cameras, and Dash Cams pursuant to the current MPD policy for each of those cameras at the rally 
planned for tonight centered on the release of journalist Manuel Duran from ICE custody. 
 
Please let us know if you have any questions or concerns. Thank you and the team for taking the time to address 
these issues on the call today. 
 
Best,

Jennie Vee Silk 
Associate 
 
Baker, Donelson, Bearman, Caldwell & Berkowitz, PC 
2000 First Tennessee Building 
165 Madison Avenue 
Memphis, TN 38103 
 
Phone 901.577.8212 
Fax 901.577.0812 
JSilk@bakerdonelson.com 
 
Baker, Donelson, Bearman, Caldwell & Berkowitz, PC represents clients across the U.S. and abroad from offices in Alabama, Florida, Georgia, 
Louisiana, Maryland, Mississippi, South Carolina, Tennessee, Texas, Virginia and Washington, D.C. 

 

 
NOTICE: This electronic mail transmission with any attachments may constitute an attorney-client communication, protected health information (PHI) or other 
confidential information that is in fact confidential, legally protected from disclosure and/or protected by the attorney-client privilege. If you are the intended 
recipient, please maintain confidentiality and be aware that forwarding this e-mail to others may result in a waiver of these protections and privileges and 
regardless electronic communications may be at times illegally accessed and viewed. If you are not the intended recipient, this e-mail is not intended for 
transmission to you, nor to be read, reviewed, used, distributed or even received by you or any other unauthorized persons. If you have received this electronic 
mail transmission in error, please double delete it from your system immediately without copying, reading or disseminating it, and notify the sender by reply e-mail, 
so that our address record can be corrected. Thank you very much.
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From: McMullen, Bruce <Bruce.McMullen1@memphistn.gov>
Sent: Friday, July 19, 2019 4:28 PM
To: Edward L. Stanton III; Will Perry; Shanell Tyler; Jim Letten
Cc: Glover, R. Mark; Jill Silk; Saleem, Zayid-mem; Tullis, Mary Wu; Sink, Jennifer
Subject: Facebook inquery about Imposter
Attachments: SKM_C45819071914390.pdf; SKM_C45819071914391.pdf; SKM_C45819071914420.pdf

Ed, Will, Jim, & Shanell,

Attached is the letter from Facebook’s Associate General Counsel, Andrea Kirkpatrick, and the subsequent emails
discussing the imposter accounts in September 2019.

Before I get to those, in October 2016, I contacted Facebook about 5 imposter accounts that were created in the
likeness of the Mayor, the Police Director, the City, and the Mayor’s wife. See attached emails I exchanged with FBI
Agent David Palmer, as well as my email to Facebook notifying them of the imposter accounts, requesting that they shut
down the accounts, and advising them that I had reached out to the US Attorney’s Office. Ultimately, we were unable to
trace the origin of the Facebook accounts, although the FBI was able to trace 2 imposter Twitter accounts to Paul
Garner.

Following the ACLU trial, MPD received a letter dated September 19, 2018 from Andrea Kirkpatrick. Initially, I thought
the letter was fake but we verified it was in fact legitimate. I contacted Ms. Kirkpatrick by email on September 25, 2018
and inquired about the imposter accounts alleged to have been created by MPD. In an email of September 26th Ms.
Kirkpatrick advised that Facebook took action on 6 accounts because they appeared to be “forensically related” to the
“Bob Smith” account, but determined 3 were authentic and 3 were disabled for being fake. She provide us with the URLs
of the three fake accounts but they were disabled.

We investigated but had no knowledge of any other imposter accounts other than “Bob Smith” which was deactivated. I
did not know what “forensically related” meant, so I inquired with our Chief IS Officer Mike Rodriguez as to its meaning
and whether he could determine the identity of the disabled Facebook accounts, including their creator (see email of
Oct 3 2018 for his response). Mr. Rodriguez could not make any determinations. We also engaged an outside Cyber
security attorney but he was also l unsuccessful.

Bruce McMullen
Chief Legal Officer/City Attorney
125 N. Main, Room 336
Memphis, Tennessee 38103
(901) 576 6614 – Office
(901) 576 6531 – Fax
bruce.mcmullen1@memphistn.gov
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From: McMullen, Bruce <Bruce.McMullen1@memphistn.gov>
Sent: Monday, July 29, 2019 9:16 AM
To: Edward L. Stanton III; Will Perry; Jim Letten; Shanell Tyler
Cc: Glover, R. Mark; Jill Silk; Tullis, Mary Wu; Sink, Jennifer
Subject: Blanchard v The City - Monitor communication

Ed, Jim, Will & Shanell,

The City is installing speed Camera in 15 locations (attached is the location map). The Cameras are similar to red light
cameras that are currently in use. The purpose of the cameras is for student safety. They will be located near 15 schools
to control traffic during early morning hours and after school. They will be activated 45 min before school starts and run
a short period after school starts and 30 min before school ends and run a short period of time after school.

The data that does not result in a ticket will be kept 90 days and the data resulting in a ticket will be kept 3 years. The
data will be held by a third party (Conduent). We will began installation in September and should have all systems live by
December 2019.

Please advise whether the usage of these cameras as described above violates the consent decree?
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From: McMullen, Bruce <Bruce.McMullen1@memphistn.gov>
Sent: Monday, August 05, 2019 2:46 PM
To: Edward L. Stanton III; Will Perry
Cc: Rallings, Director Michael; Saleem, Zayid-mem; Glover, R. Mark; Jill Silk; Tullis, Mary Wu; Sink, 

Jennifer; Fletcher, Michael; Crowe, Deputy Chief Don
Subject: Exigent circunstance request to Monitor

Importance: High

Ed,

Earlier today, a Shelby County Sheriff was involved in a fatal shooting near 201 Poplar. Almost immediately, a crowd
gathered. MPD was asked by the Sheriff’s Office to control the scene (the incident within MPD’s jurisdiction in that it
was in the City ). TBI is on the scene, since it is an officer involved shooting.

MPD is providing crowd control for public safety and has taken measures such as using bike racks to set up a perimeter.
We are requesting permission for MPD to be able to go on social media to gauge the potential response to this situation
and anticipate crowd swell. Also a concern is that there may be plans to have a larger gathering at another location, and
MPD wants to be able to be prepared in order to adequately provide public safety at that location.

Per our conversation just a few moments ago, you have authorized this request, conditioned upon keeping a log of the
search terms used.

Bruce McMullen
Chief Legal Officer/City Attorney
125 N. Main, Room 336
Memphis, Tennessee 38103
(901) 576 6614 – Office
(901) 576 6531 – Fax
bruce.mcmullen1@memphistn.gov
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From: Rallings, Director Michael <Michael.Rallings@memphistn.gov>
Sent: Monday, August 05, 2019 3:31 PM
To: Edward L. Stanton III; McMullen, Bruce; Will Perry
Cc: Saleem, Zayid-mem; Glover, R. Mark; Jill Silk; Tullis, Mary Wu; Sink, Jennifer; Fletcher, Michael; Crowe, 

Deputy Chief Don
Subject: Re: Exigent circumstance request to Monitor

The problem is that the officers are terrified to use their personal accounts and we can not force them to do so. 

The prohibition on a akternate social media account is crippling MPD and may put our citizens safety at risk. 
We need to resolve asap before we have an El Paso type incident.  

Director Michael W. Rallings 
 

Memphis Police Department 
 

170 N. Main, Suite 12-01 
 

Memphis, TN 38103 
 

Phone (901) 636-3700 
 

Fax (901 636-3502 
 

 
 

Community Outreach Program (C.O.P), a proactive initiative developed by the Memphis PoliceDepartment, to 
improve the quality of life of citizens and reduce juvenile violence, utilizing crime prevention techniques through 
identification, enforcement and education within the community. 
 

 
 

NOTICE: This e-mail and any files transmitted with it may contain information that is privileged and 
confidential, and is intended solely for the use of the individuals or entities to whom addressed. If you have 
received this transmission in error, please notify the sender immediately by telephone or e-mail and delete this 
e-mail from your system. If you are not the intended recipient, you are hereby notified that reviewing, 
disclosing, copying, distributing or taking any action in reliance on the contents herein is strictly prohibited. Any 
attempts to intercept this message are in violation of Title 18 U. S. C. 2511(1) of the Electronic 
Communications Privacy Act (EPCA). Violators are subject to fines, imprisonment, civil damages, or both.  
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From: Edward L. Stanton III
Sent:Monday, August 5, 2019 2:54:06 PM
To:McMullen, Bruce ; Will Perry
Cc: Rallings, Director Michael ; Saleem, Zayid mem ; Glover, R. Mark ; Jill Silk ; Tullis, Mary Wu ; Sink, Jennifer ; Fletcher,
Michael ; Crowe, Deputy Chief Don
Subject: RE: Exigent circumstance request to Monitor
Bruce –

Confirmed.

ELS

Edward L. Stanton III
Butler Snow LLP

D: (901) 680 7369 | F: (901) 680 7201
6075 Poplar Avenue, Suite 500, Memphis, TN 38119
P.O. Box 171443, Memphis, TN 38187 1443
Edward.Stanton@butlersnow.com| vCard | Bio

Twitter | LinkedIn | Facebook | YouTube

From:McMullen, Bruce [mailto:Bruce.McMullen1@memphistn.gov]
Sent:Monday, August 05, 2019 2:46 PM
To: Edward L. Stanton III; Will Perry
Cc: Rallings, Director Michael; Saleem, Zayid mem; Glover, R. Mark; Jill Silk; Tullis, Mary Wu; Sink, Jennifer; Fletcher,
Michael; Crowe, Deputy Chief Don
Subject: Exigent circunstance request to Monitor
Importance: High

Ed,

Earlier today, a Shelby County Sheriff was involved in a fatal shooting near 201 Poplar. Almost immediately, a crowd
gathered. MPD was asked by the Sheriff’s Office to control the scene (the incident within MPD’s jurisdiction in that it
was in the City ). TBI is on the scene, since it is an officer involved shooting.

MPD is providing crowd control for public safety and has taken measures such as using bike racks to set up a perimeter.
We are requesting permission for MPD to be able to go on social media to gauge the potential response to this situation
and anticipate crowd swell. Also a concern is that there may be plans to have a larger gathering at another location, and
MPD wants to be able to be prepared in order to adequately provide public safety at that location.

Per our conversation just a few moments ago, you have authorized this request, conditioned upon keeping a log of the
search terms used.

Bruce McMullen
Chief Legal Officer/City Attorney
125 N. Main, Room 336
Memphis, Tennessee 38103
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(901) 576 6614 – Office
(901) 576 6531 – Fax
bruce.mcmullen1@memphistn.gov

 
CONFIDENTIALITY NOTE: This e-mail and any attachments may be confidential and protected by legal privilege. If you 
are not the intended recipient, be aware that any disclosure, copying, distribution or use of the e-mail or any attachment is 
prohibited. If you have received this e-mail in error, please notify us immediately by replying to the sender and deleting 
this copy and the reply from your system. Thank you for your cooperation.
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From: Edward L. Stanton III
Sent: Monday, August 05, 2019 4:07 PM
To: 'Rallings, Director Michael'; McMullen, Bruce; Will Perry
Cc: Saleem, Zayid-mem; Glover, R. Mark; Jill Silk; Tullis, Mary Wu; Sink, Jennifer; Fletcher, Michael; Crowe, 

Deputy Chief Don
Subject: RE: Exigent circumstance request to Monitor

Director Rallings –

Thank you for sharing this concern. Please tell your officers that they may use their personal devices and social media
accounts but that any such use will be subject to the same auditing and reporting requirements that apply to official
MPD devices and accounts. We recognize that MPD has a critical public safety function. The purpose of my team is not
to interfere with or inhibit that function but to help guide it, consistent with the parameters that Judge McCalla has
identified. As long as your officers report their social media use as we have requested, the Monitoring Team will be able
to proceed according to the court’s instructions.

Best,

ELS

Edward L. Stanton III  
Butler Snow LLP  
 
D: (901) 680 7369 | F: (901) 680 7201
6075 Poplar Avenue, Suite 500, Memphis, TN 38119 
P.O. Box 171443, Memphis, TN 38187 1443 
Edward.Stanton@butlersnow.com| vCard | Bio  
 
Twitter | LinkedIn | Facebook | YouTube 
 

From: Rallings, Director Michael [mailto:Michael.Rallings@memphistn.gov]  
Sent: Monday, August 05, 2019 3:31 PM 
To: Edward L. Stanton III; McMullen, Bruce; Will Perry 
Cc: Saleem, Zayid-mem; Glover, R. Mark; Jill Silk; Tullis, Mary Wu; Sink, Jennifer; Fletcher, Michael; Crowe, Deputy Chief 
Don 
Subject: Re: Exigent circumstance request to Monitor 

The problem is that the officers are terrified to use their personal accounts and we can not force them to do so. 

The prohibition on a akternate social media account is crippling MPD and may put our citizens safety at risk. 
We need to resolve asap before we have an El Paso type incident.  

Director Michael W. Rallings 

Memphis Police Department 

170 N. Main, Suite 12-01 
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Memphis, TN 38103 

Phone (901) 636-3700 

Fax (901 636-3502 

 

Community Outreach Program (C.O.P), a proactive initiative developed by the Memphis PoliceDepartment, to 
improve the quality of life of citizens and reduce juvenile violence, utilizing crime prevention techniques through 
identification, enforcement and education within the community. 

 

NOTICE: This e-mail and any files transmitted with it may contain information that is privileged and 
confidential, and is intended solely for the use of the individuals or entities to whom addressed. If you have 
received this transmission in error, please notify the sender immediately by telephone or e-mail and delete this 
e-mail from your system. If you are not the intended recipient, you are hereby notified that reviewing, 
disclosing, copying, distributing or taking any action in reliance on the contents herein is strictly prohibited. Any 
attempts to intercept this message are in violation of Title 18 U. S. C. 2511(1) of the Electronic 
Communications Privacy Act (EPCA). Violators are subject to fines, imprisonment, civil damages, or both.  

 

From: Edward L. Stanton III
Sent:Monday, August 5, 2019 2:54:06 PM
To:McMullen, Bruce ; Will Perry
Cc: Rallings, Director Michael ; Saleem, Zayid mem ; Glover, R. Mark ; Jill Silk ; Tullis, Mary Wu ; Sink, Jennifer ; Fletcher,
Michael ; Crowe, Deputy Chief Don
Subject: RE: Exigent circumstance request to Monitor  
 
Bruce –

Confirmed.

ELS

Edward L. Stanton III  
Butler Snow LLP  
 
D: (901) 680 7369 | F: (901) 680 7201
6075 Poplar Avenue, Suite 500, Memphis, TN 38119 
P.O. Box 171443, Memphis, TN 38187 1443 
Edward.Stanton@butlersnow.com| vCard | Bio  
 
Twitter | LinkedIn | Facebook | YouTube 

From: McMullen, Bruce [mailto:Bruce.McMullen1@memphistn.gov]  
Sent: Monday, August 05, 2019 2:46 PM 
To: Edward L. Stanton III; Will Perry 
Cc: Rallings, Director Michael; Saleem, Zayid-mem; Glover, R. Mark; Jill Silk; Tullis, Mary Wu; Sink, Jennifer; Fletcher, 
Michael; Crowe, Deputy Chief Don 
Subject: Exigent circunstance request to Monitor 
Importance: High 

Case 2:17-cv-02120-JPM-jay   Document 244-2   Filed 10/31/19   Page 43 of 48    PageID
 8220



3

Ed,

Earlier today, a Shelby County Sheriff was involved in a fatal shooting near 201 Poplar. Almost immediately, a crowd
gathered. MPD was asked by the Sheriff’s Office to control the scene (the incident within MPD’s jurisdiction in that it
was in the City ). TBI is on the scene, since it is an officer involved shooting.

MPD is providing crowd control for public safety and has taken measures such as using bike racks to set up a perimeter.
We are requesting permission for MPD to be able to go on social media to gauge the potential response to this situation
and anticipate crowd swell. Also a concern is that there may be plans to have a larger gathering at another location, and
MPD wants to be able to be prepared in order to adequately provide public safety at that location.

Per our conversation just a few moments ago, you have authorized this request, conditioned upon keeping a log of the
search terms used.

Bruce McMullen 
Chief Legal Officer/City Attorney 
125 N. Main, Room 336 
Memphis, Tennessee 38103 
(901) 576-6614 – Office 
(901) 576-6531 – Fax 
bruce.mcmullen1@memphistn.gov  

 

 
CONFIDENTIALITY NOTE: This e-mail and any attachments may be confidential and protected by legal privilege. If you 
are not the intended recipient, be aware that any disclosure, copying, distribution or use of the e-mail or any attachment is 
prohibited. If you have received this e-mail in error, please notify us immediately by replying to the sender and deleting 
this copy and the reply from your system. Thank you for your cooperation. 

Case 2:17-cv-02120-JPM-jay   Document 244-2   Filed 10/31/19   Page 44 of 48    PageID
 8221



 

 

Exhibit 7 

Case 2:17-cv-02120-JPM-jay   Document 244-2   Filed 10/31/19   Page 45 of 48    PageID
 8222



1

From: McMullen, Bruce <Bruce.McMullen1@memphistn.gov>
Sent: Thursday, August 22, 2019 2:15 PM
To: Edward L. Stanton III; Will Perry; Shanell Tyler; Jim Letten
Cc: Glover, R. Mark; Jill Silk; Tullis, Mary Wu; Sink, Jennifer
Subject: Approval requested

Importance: High

Ed,

We are continuing to review your letter of August 12, 2019. I wanted to email you immediately to discuss clarification of
your response to our Scenario #10 regarding security procedures for entering City Hall. Because your response would
result in a massive operational change, and change in how we assess threats to employees (i.e., disgruntled former
employees or someone under a restraining order), we wanted to make sure we were 100% clear on the directions for
new security procedures or approach for persons entering City Hall and that you and the Court deem permissible under
the Consent Decree.

Consequently, until we can get some clarity from the Court (and I would like to bring it up Tuesday because this is so
critical), we plan to advise the City Hall security team to first ask persons where they intend to go when they enter City
Hall. If they advise that they are going to pay their taxes on the 3rd Floor or to attend City Council events open to the
public, we will not require those individuals to show ID or sign in on the desk log. If individuals advise that they are
visiting any other area, we will ask them to show ID and sign in on the desk log, and we will make a visitor’s badge so
that employees are aware that a non employee is in the restricted area. The photo will be retained until after court on
Tuesday. Please confirm if that is acceptable until we can get further clarification from the Court on Tuesday.

Finally, with respect to 170 Main which houses MPD, parts of HR, Legal and the sex offender registry office, we will
continue to require the visitors state their business and produce their identification, and we will produce a photo badge
and maintain the information for security purposes.

Bruce McMullen
Chief Legal Officer/City Attorney
125 N. Main, Room 336
Memphis, Tennessee 38103
(901) 576 6614 – Office
(901) 576 6531 – Fax
bruce.mcmullen1@memphistn.gov
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From: McMullen, Bruce <Bruce.McMullen1@memphistn.gov>
Sent: Friday, August 23, 2019 3:42 PM
To: Edward L. Stanton III; Will Perry; Shanell Tyler
Cc: mglover@bakerdonelson.com; Jill Silk; mtullis@bakerdonelson.com; Sink, Jennifer; Saleem, Zayid-

mem
Subject: Request for Approval

Ed,

As you are aware, MPD uses an information/evidence gathering entity called "Crime Stoppers." When a crime is
committed, there is usually a marketing campaign for anyone with any information to call a number and provide that
information. The caller can remain anonymous or give personal information for follow up so that they can collect the
cash reward. Crime Stoppers is a standalone entity that is separate from MPD; however, the information is transmitted
to MPD.

MPD has no way of verifying how the caller got his/her intel and certainly have no way of knowing whether the caller is
trained on the consent decree or whether they used methods not allowed by the consent decree. Can MPD receive
information from Crime Stoppers?

Sent from my iPhone
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